05  
w/APP

**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

JUN 22 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA  
SUPREME COURT

RICHARD ALLEN DOBSON,

Petitioner,

vs.

JULIA HAYDEN SAMSON,

Respondent.

---

CASE NO. 80,028

(5th DCA Case No. 91-1991)

---

DISCRETIONARY PROCEEDINGS  
TO REVIEW A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT  
COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FIFTH DISTRICT

---

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

---

JOHN M. BRENNAN  
Florida Bar No. 0297951  
Subin, Shams, Rosenbluth &  
Moran, P.A.  
Suite 900, 111 N. Orange Avenue  
Post Office Box 285  
Orlando, Florida 32801-2373  
(407) 841-7470  
Attorneys for Petitioner,  
RICHARD ALLEN DOBSON

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in Dobson v. Samson, 17 FLW D990 (Fla. 5th DCA April 17, 1992) expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of the Second, Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal in Lenders v. Durham, 564 So.2d 1186 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1990); Texter v. Texter, 593 So.2d 553 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992); Hill v. Hill, 548 So.2d 705 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989); Sherman v. Sherman, 558 So.2d 149 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990); and DeCamp v. Hein, 541 So.2d 708 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) on the frequent and recurring question of the legal standard and circumstances under which a custodial parent should be permitted to relocate the residence of a minor child, over the objection of the non-residential parent.

Family law cases constitute a substantial portion of the caseload in both the trial and appellate courts of Florida. Divorce, the separation of parents and children, remarriage, the creation of new family units and residence relocation are common occurrences in today's society. Resolving the judicial dilemma of whether to grant a request by a primary residential parent to relocate the residence of a minor child, over the objection of a non-residential parent, is a difficult task. The resolution of the relocation issue involves a balancing of competing interests: 1) the interest of the child in having meaningful relationships with both parents; 2) the residential parent's interest in pursuing a chosen career and settling where he or she believes the best

interests of his or her post-divorce family would be served; and  
3) the non-residential parent's interest in maintaining regular  
visitation with his or her child.

The law relating to relocation affects a large number of  
people and families in Florida. The bar and trial courts of this  
state need definitive guidance as to the proper test to be applied  
in deciding relocation cases and the circumstances under which a  
relocation should be permitted. All Florida citizens should  
receive equal treatment on this issue. Unfortunately, that is not  
the case. Rather, the physical location of parents within this  
state determines whether a custodial parent may relocate the  
residence of a minor child. The Fifth District has never allowed  
a relocation and is in express and direct conflict with the Second,  
Third and Fourth Districts on this important question of law.

This issue should be addressed by the Florida Supreme Court so  
that a uniform rule of law may be adopted for all Florida courts.  
The importance of the issue presented by this case has been  
recognized. For example, in Hill v. Hill, 548 So.2d 705 (Fla. 3rd  
DCA 1989), Chief Judge Schwartz, concurring specially, referred to  
the relocation issue as "this vital area of the law." Similarly,  
in Mast v. Reed, 578 So.2d 304 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) (en banc), Judge  
Sharp pointed out that relocation is a "serious family law issue"  
and cited statistics demonstrating that approximately 20% of  
American families changed household residences during a recent one-  
year period.

### ARGUMENT

THE FIFTH DISTRICT'S DECISION IS IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THE SECOND, THIRD AND FOURTH DISTRICTS CONCERNING THE LEGAL STANDARD AND CIRCUMSTANCES UNDER WHICH A CUSTODIAL PARENT MAY RELOCATE THE RESIDENCE OF A MINOR CHILD.

In Dobson v. Samson, the Fifth District acknowledged that the reason for Dobson's petition to relocate was to pursue an offer of employment "that would greatly enhance his career and his immediate salary." The original settlement agreement and order did not prohibit a relocation. The non-residential parent stipulated and the trial court found that Dobson's motives for seeking to relocate were genuine and bona-fide, and that his motive was not to defeat or frustrate the contact between the minor child and non-residential parent. The parties stipulated and the trial court also found that Dobson was likely to comply with any reasonable substitute visitation order. Dobson offered substantial substitute visitation. Nevertheless, the Fifth District held that the relocation should be denied since it would "greatly impair meaningful sharing of parental responsibilities by the non-custodial parent and frustrate frequent visitation between the non-custodial parent and the child."

The decision of the Fifth District in Dobson v. Samson, and the underlying decisions of the Fifth District in relocation cases are in express and direct conflict with decisions of the Second, Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal, all of which have

avored good faith, bona-fide relocation requests and have adopted a six factor test for deciding the relocation issue:

1. The likelihood of the move improving the general quality of life for both the primary residential spouse and the children.
2. The integrity of the motives for seeking the move to insure it is not done for the express purpose of defeating visitation.
3. Whether the custodial parent, once out of the jurisdiction, will be likely to comply with any substitute visitation arrangements.
4. That the substitute visitation will be adequate to foster a continuing meaningful relationship between the child or children and the noncustodial parent.
5. That the cost of transportation is financially affordable by one or both of the parents.
6. That the move is in the best interests of the children.

Lenders v. Durham, 564 So.2d 1186 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1990) (Order denying relocation request reversed); Hill v. Hill, 548 So.2d 705 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989) (Order denying relocation reversed); Sherman v. Sherman, 558 So.2d 149 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990) (Order denying relocation reversed); DeCamp v. Hein, 541 So.2d 708 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) (Order disallowing relocation reversed).

There is no reported Fifth District case approving of any relocation request. Giachetti v. Giachetti, 416 So.2d 27 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982) (Order denying relocation request affirmed); Jones v. Vrba, 513 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987) (Order allowing relocation reversed); Cole v. Cole, 530 So.2d 467 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) (Order allowing relocation reversed); Mize v. Mize, 589 So.2d 959 (Fla.

5th DCA 1991) (Order permitting relocation reversed based on conflict with Cole, Giachetti and Jones v. Vrba); Conroy v. Conroy, 585 So.2d 957 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) (Order allowing relocation reversed based on conflict with Cole, Giachetti and Jones v. Vrba); Dobson v. Samson (Order denying relocation request affirmed based on Cole, Jones v. Vrba, Giachetti and Conroy). Further, the Fifth District has rejected the six-prong test adopted by the Second, Third and Fourth Districts. Thus, an express and direct conflict exists.

In Mast v. Reed, 578 So.2d 304 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) (en banc) (Sharp, J., partially concurring and dissenting), Judge Sharp, joined by Judge Griffin, acknowledged the conflict and urged that the Fifth District should overturn Giachetti, Jones v. Vrba and Cole and adopt the test followed by the Second, Third and Fourth Districts. Judge Sharp recognized the validity of a relocation to pursue an "out-of-state improved job opportunity" and further that "[F]ocusing narrowly on the noncustodial parent's biweekly visitation rights entirely ignores the devastating impact on the custodial parent if he or she cannot leave the state." Judge Sharp also pointed out that a child's day-to-day welfare depends much more on the custodial parent's circumstances and that prohibiting a move might deprive the child of improved living conditions.

I submit that in this day and age of our mobile population, the jet airplane and the UCCJA, it is both parochial and punitive to continue to confine Florida's

custodial parents to this state as a matter of law, or face loss of residential custody of their children.

\* \* \*

There is no reason why lengthy, extended summer visitation. . . such as Mast offered in her petition could not be worked out in lieu of every other weekend visits. Mast v. Reed, 578 So.2d at 311, 312 (emphasis added).

The Fourth District, in DeCamp v. Hein, and the Third District in Hill v. Hill (Schwartz, C.J., specially concurring) have also acknowledged the conflict between the law applied in those districts and the Giachetti, Cole and Jones v. Vrba line of cases followed by the Fifth District in Dobson v. Samson.

The Giachetti, Jones v. Vrba, and Cole line of cases from the Fifth District has been the subject of substantial criticism. Mast v. Reed, 578 So.2d 304, 310, 311 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) (en banc) (Sharp, J., partially concurring and dissenting) (Cole and Giachetti are "fundamentally erroneous". . . Our sister courts have adopted a better view than Cole, Giachetti and Jones. See Sherman; Zugda; Hill; Hein; Bachman; Landa; Nissen; Matilla. I think this Court should overturn Cole, Giachetti, and Jones and follow their lead.); DeCamp v. Hein, 541 So.2d 708 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) (Much has been written in criticism of Giachetti, citing articles); Hill v. Hill, 548 So.2d 705 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989) (Schwartz, C.J., specially concurring. Judge Schwartz states that Giachetti is "wholly misguided" and represents a "clear failure of legal logic." Further, that he "strongly disagrees" with Cole, Jones v. Vrba and

Giachetti for their failure to apply the principle that so long as the primary residential parent desires to move for a well-intentioned reason and well-founded belief that the relocation is best for the parent's and, it follows, the child's well-being, rather than from a vindictive desire to interfere with the visitation rights of the other parent, the change in residence should ordinarily be approved.)

Further, the Fifth District's conclusion in Dobson v. Samson that the child and non-residential parent cannot maintain a meaningful relationship if a relocation is allowed is in express and direct conflict with Sherman v. Sherman, 558 So.2d 149, 151 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990) which held that:

[M]eaningful visitation can occur where the custodial parent resides in a foreign jurisdiction.

See also, Zugda v. Gomez, 553 So.2d 1295 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989) and Matilla v. Matilla, 474 So.2d 306 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985).

Moreover, the Fifth District's rejection of the principle that what is in the best interests of the residential parent's new family unit is in the best interests of the child is in express and direct conflict with Matilla v. Matilla, 474 So.2d 306 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985) (The new family unit consists only of the children and the custodial parent, and what is advantageous to that unit as a whole, to each of its members individually and to the way they relate to each other and function together is obviously in the best interest of the children.), Texter v. Texter, 593 So.2d 553 (Fla.

2nd DCA 1992) (The child's family unit consists of herself and her residential parent, and what is best for the unit as a whole is in the child's best interest.) and DeCamp v. Hein, 541 So.2d 708, 712 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) (What is advantageous to the new family unit as a whole. . . is obviously in the best interests of the children.).

Dobson respectfully submits that the Fifth District's decision in the Dobson v. Samson case, and the other decisions of the Fifth District in relocation cases do not demonstrate a properly balanced approach to deciding the relocation issue. Instead, they reflect a rule in which relocation is denied, as a matter of law, where the non-residential parent objects and has previously exercised his or her visitation rights. The proper rule of law to be applied in relocation cases is an issue of exceptional importance which should be considered by the Supreme Court.

The law concerning relocation in the Fifth District is directly at odds with the law in the Second, Third and Fourth Districts. This situation is simply wrong. All Florida citizens should receive equal treatment on this issue. This conflict should be resolved by the Florida Supreme Court so that a uniform rule of law may be adopted for statewide application. Surely, the resolution of the relocation issue should be controlled by a uniform rule of law, rather than the physical location of the parties within the state. A uniform test should be applied whether relocation is requested in a court in Orlando, Tampa, Lakeland, Miami or West Palm Beach. Otherwise, we will continue to see

substantial disparities resulting from basically similar factual circumstances. See Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So.2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980) (Both appellate and trial judges should recognize the concern which arises from substantial disparities in domestic judgments resulting from basically similar factual circumstances. . . Different results reached from substantially the same facts comports with neither logic nor reasonableness.)<sup>1</sup>

#### CONCLUSION

The Fifth District's decision in Dobson v. Samson is in express and direct conflict with decisions of the Second, Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal on an issue of great public importance; the circumstances under which a custodial parent should be allowed to relocate the residence of a minor child. The petitioner, Richard Allen Dobson, respectfully requests that this Honorable Court accept jurisdiction of this case and reverse the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

---

<sup>1</sup>The Fifth District's citation to Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1980); Baldwin v. Baldwin, 576 So.2d 400 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) and Elebash v. Elebash, 450 So.2d 1268 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), which deal with the trial court's discretion, raises a false issue. This case is not about the trial court's discretion. Rather, it concerns the proper rule of law to be applied in relocation cases. As previously noted, the Fifth District has never allowed a relocation. In Jones, Cole, Mize and Conroy, the Fifth District reversed trial court orders allowing relocation. Clearly, it cannot be said that the trial court acts within its discretion only when it denies the relocation request.