045 Wapp

STATE OF FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

SID I WHITE
JUN 29 1992
CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

RICHARD ALLEN DOBSON,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO: 80,028

(5TH DCA Case No. 91-1991)

JULIA HAYDEN SAMSON,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY PROCEEDINGS TO REVIEW A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FIFTH DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S REPLY ON JURISDICTION

N. LEE SASSER, JR.

SASSER AND WEBER, P.A.

P. O. Box 531161

Orlando, FL 32853-1161

Telephone: (407) 896-0491

Fla. Bar No. 0194598

Attorney for Respondent,

JULIA HAYDEN SAMSON

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in Dobson v. Samson, 17 FLW D990 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) does not expressly and directly conflict with any decision of this Court or the District Courts of Appeal which would permit discretionary jurisdiction to be invoked by this Court. The standard for the determination of the relocation issue is "the best interest of the child" in all jurisdictions.

ARGUMENT

THE FIFTH DISTRICT DECISION IS NOT IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THE SECOND, THIRD AND FOURTH DISTRICTS CONCERNING THE LEGAL STANDARD AND CIRCUMSTANCES UNDER WHICH A CUSTODIAL PARENT MAY RELOCATE THE RESIDENCE OF A MINOR CHILD.

The test for determining whether a primary residential parent should be permitted to move a child out of Florida over the secondary parent's objection is, in all Districts based on the best interest of that child. In Dobson v. Samson, 17 FLW D990 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) the Fifth District Court of Appeal applied this test, specifically finding that the benefits to the father and his new family from the relocation were "outweighed by the benefit to the child of maintaining frequent and close continuous contact with the mother and the mother's right of continued frequent visitation and effective shared parental responsibility." (APP-1).

While Appellant argues that the standard utilized by the Fifth District is in conflict with the decisions of the Second, Third and Fourth Districts, each of those Districts continues to utilize the "best interest" test. While the other Districts allow the trial court to consider other factors as well, the main criteria which embodies the others is "best interest". In Hill, 548 So.2d 705 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989) cited by Appellant and by the the Third and Fourth District cases with which Appellant urges conflict, the court states the sixth

factor for the Court to consider:

"6. Whether the move is in the best interest of the child (this sixth requirement we believe is a generalized summary of the previous five)" P.706

Thus, the standard of review does not differ between the Fifth District as set forth in <u>Dobson v. Samson</u> and the other Districts but is simply a different enumeration of factors.

In this case, the trial court in fact considered all of the factors outlined in <u>Hill</u>. Specifically, the Final Order on Former Wife's Supplemental Petition for Modification of Final Judgment and Former Husband's Supplemental Petition for Modification of Final Judgment states at paragraph "H":

"Were the Court to permit the relocation, the Court finds that the father is likely to comply with any reasonable substitute visitation order and further that his motives for seeking to relocate are genuine and bona fide, and his motive is not to defeat or frustrate the contact between the child and the mother." (APP-4)

However, the trial court also found at paragraph "J":

"As a result of this child's young age, six and a half years, the Court agrees with the testimony of the mother's expert, Carl Nickeson, Ph.D., that frequency of contact is important to maintain the existing relationship between the child and the mother." (APP-4)

The Court went on to hold in paragraph "K", as follows:

"While there may be circumstances in the future justifying a relocation, the Court finds that under the facts and circumstances of this case the desire to relocate by the father is outweighed by the benefit to the child of maintaining frequent and continuing contact with the mother." (emphasis added) (APP-5)

This specific finding was cited by the Fifth District

in Dobson v. Samson which also cited Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382

So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1980) indicating that the Appellate Court must affirm the trial court because Judge Russell was well within her bounds of discretion.

Appellant argues that the Third District Court of Appeal in Sherman v. Sherman, 558 So.2d 149 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990) holds, as a matter of law, that meaningful visitation can occur where the custodial parent resides in a foreign jurisdiction. Further, Appellant asserts that Matilla v. Matilla, 474 So.2d 306 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985) stands for the proposition that the "new family unit" consists only of the children and the custodial These are clearly questions of fact, not law and the trial court's findings of fact should not be distrubed. Judge Russell's Final Order, affirmed by the Fifth District, specifically found that since she was two years old, Alex had the benefit of liberal contact with her mother, including alternating weekends from Friday until Monday and every Wednesday evening until Thursday morning. This contact schedule provides contact between the mother and child sixteen (16) days out of each twenty-eight (28) day cycle. Additonally, her mother's home consisted of her mother, her stepfather and her half-brother. All of Alex's grandparents, paternal and maternal, live in Orlando and regularly spend time with her. In its Order the Court specifically agreed with the testimony of the mother's expert that the frequency of contact is important to maintain the existing relationship between this six and one-half year old child and her mother. These are clearly factual issues, concluded by the trial court, and affirmed by the Fifth District utilizing the <u>Canakaris</u> standard of review. Appellant's assertion that all that matters is the primary residential parent's new family is not supported by the evidence, and certainly can not be a valid conclusion of law.

Thus, the same standard is essentially applied in all of the Districts, i.e., "the best interest of the child". The trial court did consider the other factors enumerated in the cases of the Second, Third and Fourth Districts cited by Appellant and even having considered those factors specifically found that it was in the best interest of the minor child for the relocation to be prohibited. The Fifth District found that this was in the broad discretion of the trial court and affirmed. Based on the Canakaris standard of review and the trial court's specific findings, the Final Judgment would have been affirmed in any of the Districts. Thus, there is simply no conflict between Dobson v. Samson and the decisions of the other Districts as urged by Appellant.

CONCLUSION

There being no express and direct conflict between Dobson v. Samson, 17 FLW D990 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) and the cases cited by Appellant of the Second, Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal, discretionary review by the Florida Supreme Court should be denied.